IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 82556

Uber Technologies, Inc.; Rasier, LLC; and Rasier-CA, LLC, *Appellants*

Electronically Filed Jul 15 2021 06:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Megan Royz; and Andrea Eileen Work, *Respondents*

Appeal
Eighth Judicial District Court
Case No. A-20-810843-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

D. Lee Roberts, Jr., Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8877
Ryan T. Gormley, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 13494
Weinberg, Wheeler, Hudgins,
Gunn & Dial, LLC
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Ste. 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
(702) 938-3838
lroberts@wwhgd.com
rgormley@wwhgd.com

Attorneys for Appellants

Karen L. Bashor, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11913

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from district court orders denying a motion to compel arbitration and a subsequent motion for reconsideration. Notice of entry of the order denying the motion to compel arbitration and order denying the motion for reconsideration were both filed on January 29, 2021. 3 AA 353; 4 AA 362. Appellants Uber Technologies, Inc., Rasier, LLC, and Rasier-CA, LLC (collectively "Uber") timely noticed this appeal on February 24, 2021. 4 AA 372. Appellate jurisdiction exists under NRS 38.247(1)(a) and 9 U.S.C. § 16(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12) because it raises an issue of first impression and of statewide public importance involving arbitrability under the Federal Arbitration Act and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524 (2019).

ISSUES PRESENTED

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that where parties have entered into a valid arbitration agreement, and that agreement clearly and unmistakably delegates threshold issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator, courts must honor that delegation.

¹ "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix submitted in conjunction with this brief. The number preceding AA indicates the volume; the number following AA indicates the bates number.

This is true even if the court believes the argument for arbitrability of the disputes is "wholly groundless." Uber moved to compel arbitration of Respondents' claims based on the parties' arbitration agreement, which clearly and unmistakably delegated threshold questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator. Yet, the district court denied the motion (and a subsequent motion for reconsideration), deciding for itself the scope of the arbitration agreement and refusing to refer the disputed questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator.

Given the parties' delegation of threshold questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator, the issue presented is whether the district court erred by deciding disputed questions of arbitrability instead of compelling arbitration and referring the questions to the arbitrator?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Uber Technologies, Inc. and its affiliates are technology companies that developed, *inter alia*, the rider-version of the Uber App, which enables persons in need of rides ("riders") to request rides from independent transportation providers searching for passengers ("independent drivers").² 4 AA 366 (FOF No. 3).³ When registering for their rider accounts, Respondents Work and Royz each entered into a binding arbitration agreement that expressly delegated threshold questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator, including the authority to resolve disputes related to the interpretation, applicability, or enforceability of the arbitration agreement. 4 AA 369 (FOF No. 7); 1 AA 80, 100.

Respondents subsequently filed this lawsuit against Uber, arising out of a 2018 car accident in which they were traveling as riders in a vehicle driven by independent driver Marco Antonio Heredia-Estrada. *See* 1 AA 1. Work requested and paid for the ride through the rider-version of the Uber App. 4 AA 366 (FOF No. 2). In response to the complaint, Uber moved to compel arbitration. 1 AA 34.

² Appellants Rasier, LLC and Rasier-CA, LLC are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Appellant Uber Technologies, Inc. engaged in the business of providing lead generation services to providers of transportation services through the rider marketplace, using the driver version of the Uber App. 4 AA 366 (FOF No. 3).

³ "FOF" refers to findings of fact from the district court's order denying Uber's motion to compel arbitration; whereas "COL" refers to conclusions of law from the same order. *See* 4 AA 365-371.

The district court denied the motion and a subsequent motion for reconsideration, refusing to refer questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator. *See* 3 AA 353; 4 AA 362. Rather, the district court interpreted the arbitration agreement to conclude: (1) the claims at issue did not fall within its scope, 4 AA 370-71 (COL Nos. 1-2), (2) the agreement was not applicable or enforceable as to Royz, *id.*, and (3) the parties' delegation was inapplicable. 3 AA 357-59.

The district court's refusal to honor the arbitration agreement's express delegation of gateway questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator is reversible error under the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524 (2019). Accordingly, this Court should vacate the district court's order and remand with instructions to refer the matter to arbitration and stay further proceedings in the district court under 9 U.S.C. § 3 (or NRS 38.221).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Arbitration Agreement.

Respondents Work and Royz both assented to the November 2016 version of Uber's U.S. Terms of Use ("Terms & Conditions"). *See* 1 AA 57-60 (Work) and 90-93 (Royz). Work initially registered for an account with Uber on March 27, 2015 through a smartphone. 1 AA 59. In the last step of registration, she was presented with a clearly hyperlinked notice, stating "By creating an Uber account,

you agree to the Terms & Conditions and Privacy Policy." *Id.* Later, on November 14, 2016, Uber sent Work an email, providing notice of updates to the terms. *Id.* The email provided another clearly marked hyperlink to the November 2016 version of the Terms & Conditions, specifying that continued use of the Uber App would constitute assent to the updated Terms & Conditions. *Id.* Work continued to use the Uber App, assenting to the November 2016 Terms & Conditions. *Id.*

Royz registered for an account with Uber on November 30, 2016 via the Uber website, where she was presented with a clearly hyperlinked notice, stating: "By clicking 'Create Account', you agree to Uber's Terms and Conditions and Privacy Policy." 1 AA 92. Royz proceeded and created an account. *Id.* Therein, Royz similarly assented to the November 2016 version of the Terms & Conditions.

At the outset, the Terms & Conditions direct the reader—in all-caps—to the arbitration agreement ("Arbitration Agreement"): "Please review the arbitration agreement set forth below carefully, as it will require you to resolve disputes with Uber on an individual basis through final and binding arbitration." 1 AA 79 (identical version also begins at 1 AA 99).

As it relates here, there are four pertinent aspects of the Arbitration Agreement.

1. The Arbitration Agreement provides that the parties agreed to submit

claims to binding arbitration:

By agreeing to the Terms, you agree that you are required to resolve any claim that you may have against Uber on an individual basis in arbitration, as set forth in this Arbitration Agreement.

. . .

You and Uber agree that any dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or relating to (a) these Terms or the existence, breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity thereof, or (b) your access to or use of the Services at any time, whether before or after the date you agreed to the Terms, will be settled by binding arbitration between you and Uber, and not in a court of law.

1 AA 80.

2. The Arbitration Agreement provides that AAA rules apply:

The arbitration will be administered by the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") in accordance with the AAA's Consumer Arbitration Rules and the Supplementary Procedures for Consumer Related Disputes (the "AAA Rules") then in effect, except as modified by this Arbitration Agreement. The AAA Rules are available at www.adr.org/arb_med or by calling the AAA at 1-800-778-7879.

Id.

3. The Arbitration Agreement contains a delegation clause, under which the parties agreed that the arbitrator has the exclusive authority to resolve threshold questions of arbitrability, including disputes relating to the interpretation,

applicability, or enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement:

The parties agree that the arbitrator ("Arbitrator"), and not any federal, state, or local court or agency, shall have exclusive authority to resolve any disputes relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability or formation of this Arbitration Agreement, including any claim that all or any part of this Arbitration Agreement is void or voidable. The Arbitrator shall also be responsible for determining all threshold arbitrability issues, including issues relating to whether the Terms are unconscionable or illusory and any defense to arbitration, including waiver, delay, laches, or estoppel.

Id.

4. The Arbitration Agreement instructs that the FAA governs:

Notwithstanding any choice of law or other provision in the Terms, the parties agree and acknowledge that this Arbitration Agreement evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce and that the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. ("FAA"), will govern its interpretation and enforcement and proceedings pursuant thereto. It is the intent of the parties that the FAA and AAA Rules shall preempt all state laws to the fullest extent permitted by law. If the FAA and AAA Rules are found to not apply to any issue that arises under this Arbitration Agreement or the enforcement thereof, then that issue shall be resolved under the laws of the state of California.

Id.

B. Respondents file suit against Uber.

Respondents' complaint alleges that on February 22, 2018, they were travelling as riders in a vehicle driven by independent driver Heredia-Estrada,

when his vehicle collided with a vehicle operated by a separate independent driver, Mark Anthony Jacobs, resulting in injuries. *See* 1 AA 1. Work requested and paid for the ride for Royz and herself through her rider version of the Uber App. 4 AA 366 (FOF No. 2). Work and Royz filed suit against Heredia-Estrada, Jacobs, and Uber, seeking to hold Uber liable under theories of negligence and *respondeat superior*. *See* 1 AA 1.

C. The district court denies Uber's motion to compel arbitration and motion for reconsideration.

Based on the Arbitration Agreement within the Terms & Conditions that both Work and Royz agreed to, Uber moved to compel arbitration and stay all proceedings. *See* 1 AA 34. Work and Royz opposed the motion on four grounds, arguing that (1) their claims against Uber did not fall within the scope of the parties' Arbitration Agreement; (2) the Arbitration Agreement was inapplicable or unenforceable as to Royz because she did not use the Uber App to request the ride at issue, only Work did; (3) Rasier, LLC, Rasier-CA, LLC, and Jacobs (who filed a joinder to the motion to compel arbitration) could not enforce the Arbitration Agreement because they were purportedly not signatories to it; and (4) even if the Court concluded that their claims against Uber fell within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, such conclusion should only apply to their first cause of

action. See 1 AA 146-53.4

After expressing concerns during the hearing with respect to U.S. and Nevada Supreme Court precedent regarding the enforceability of arbitration agreements in light of the right to a civil jury trial, 2 AA 184-85, the district court issued an order denying Uber's motion for two reasons. *See* 4 AA 365-371. First, the district court concluded that the claims at issue did not fall within the scope of the parties' Arbitration Agreement:

The Court finds that the arbitration clause focuses on the terms of service under the contract—not motor vehicle accidents. Because the arbitration provision does not clearly or unmistakably provide that the parties have agreed to submit a motor vehicle dispute to arbitration, this Court determines the issue. Accordingly, after reviewing the contract, the Court does not find that the parties have waived their rights to a civil trial in favor of arbitration, for a motor vehicle accident dispute.

4 AA 371 (COL No. 2).

Second, the district court determined that the Arbitration Agreement did not apply and/or was not enforceable as to Royz because Royz did not use the Uber App to request the transportation, only Work did:

Further, Plaintiff Megan Royz did not use the Uber App to request transportation. Thus, Plaintiff Royz did not enter into a contract that could compel her claims to

⁴ It is worth noting that Royz and Work did *not* argue that they did not enter into the Arbitration Agreement—there is no question as to the existence or validity of the agreements.

arbitration.

Id.

Following the denial, Uber moved for reconsideration, arguing that the district court clearly erred by interpreting the scope, applicability, and enforceability of the parties' Arbitration Agreement because, under the parties' delegation clause, only the arbitrator had the authority to make such threshold determinations of arbitrability. 2 AA 206. The district court denied the motion for reconsideration on the merits, reasoning that the parties' delegation clause could only apply to claims that fell within the scope of the parties' Arbitration Agreement, and thus, the delegation clause was inapplicable:

While the Arbitration Agreement and Delegation Clause may be severable, the delegation clause must be read in conjunction with the [Terms] and Arbitration Agreement, which determines the scope of the arbitration or disputes related to what the parties agreed to arbitrate.

After reviewing the [Terms], the Arbitration Agreement, and the delegation clause, this Court determines that the agreement to arbitrate is limited to those disputes, claims, or controversies arising out of or relating to the Terms or use of movant's services. As previously set forth within the Court's [Order], the arbitration clause focuses on [Terms] under the contract—not motor vehicle accidents. The arbitration provision does not clearly or unmistakably provide that the parties have agreed to submit a motor vehicle dispute to arbitration. Therefore this Court determines the issue.

3 AA 356-59.

Uber timely filed a notice of appeal. 4 AA 372. The underlying proceeding

is stayed pending this appeal. 4 AA 396.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred by deciding disputed questions of arbitrability instead of referring them to the arbitrator. Under the FAA, which governs, the district court was required to honor the parties' delegation clause, even if it believed that the argument that Respondents' claims fell within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement was frivolous or "wholly groundless", as recently held by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 529 (2019).

The district court's refusal to grant Uber's motion to compel arbitration and refer questions of arbitrability to the arbitrator was clear error. In fact, the district court's refusal to compel arbitration because of its own view of the scope of the arbitration agreement smacks of the very "judicial hostility to arbitration" that the FAA was enacted to counteract. *Am. Express Co. v. Italian Colors Rest.*, 133 S. Ct. 2304, 2308-09 (2013). Reversal is warranted.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The district court's denial of Uber's motion to compel arbitration is reviewed de novo. *See Masto v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 125 Nev. 37, 44, 199 P.3d 828, 832 (2009) ("Whether a dispute arising under a contract is arbitrable is a

matter of contract interpretation, which is a question of law that we review de novo."); see also Newirth by & through Newirth v. Aegis Senior Communities, LLC, 931 F.3d 935, 939 (9th Cir. 2019) ("We review de novo the district court's denial of a motion to compel arbitration.").

B. The district court erred by deciding the disputed questions of arbitrability instead of referring them to the arbitrator.

Because the FAA governs and mandates the enforcement of the parties' delegation clause, the district court committed reversible error by deciding the disputed questions of arbitrability instead of referring them to the arbitrator.

1. The FAA governs the interpretation of the Arbitration Agreement.

The FAA governs the interpretation of arbitration agreements that expressly invoke its terms and preempts any inconsistent state law. *DirectTV, Inc. v. Imburgia*, 577 U.S. 47, 53-54 (2015); *see Buckeye Check Cashing Inc. v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440, 442-43 (2006) (applying the FAA to resolve a motion to compel brought in state court when the parties agreed the FAA would govern in their arbitration agreement). Because the Arbitration Agreement at issue here states that the FAA "will govern its interpretation and enforcement and proceedings pursuant thereto," 1 AA 80, the decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court construing the FAA are authoritative on the interpretation of the Arbitration

Agreement.⁵

As those decisions underscore, the FAA reflects a "liberal federal policy favoring arbitration and the fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract." AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (internal quotations and citation omitted). Indeed, the FAA was enacted in 1925 to "reverse the longstanding judicial hostility to arbitration agreements." Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U.S. 20, 24 (1991). The "principal purpose" of the FAA is to "ensure that private arbitration agreements are enforced according to their terms." AT&T Mobility, 563 U.S. at 344. Under the FAA, "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration." Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 25 (1983); see also Masto, 125 Nev. at 44, 199 P.3d at 832 ("As a matter of public policy, Nevada courts encourage arbitration and liberally construe arbitration clauses in favor of granting arbitration.").

⁵ The FAA also applies because the parties' agreements and Arbitration Agreement "involv[e] interstate commerce," as expressly acknowledged and agreed to by the parties: "this Arbitration Agreement evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce." 1 AA 80; see U.S. Home Corp. v. Michael Ballesteros Tr., 134 Nev. 180, 192, 415 P.3d 32, 42 (2018) (concluding that the FAA governed because the contracts at issue "evidenced transactions involving interstate commerce").

2. Under the FAA, the district court did not have authority to decide the disputed questions of arbitrability and was required to refer these questions to the arbitrator.

The U.S. Supreme Court has long held that the FAA's command that courts enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms applies in disputes over "gateway" issues of arbitrability, such as whether a particular claim falls within the scope of the arbitration provision, and, the antecedent question of who decides such gateway issues: the court or the arbitrator. *See Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 529 (2019) ("Applying the Act, we have held that parties may agree to have an arbitrator decide not only the merits of a particular dispute but also 'gateway' questions of 'arbitrability,' such as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers a particular controversy."); *Rent-A-Center., W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 70 (2010); *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 945 (1995).

Where the parties include a so-called "delegation provision" in their agreement, it is treated as an "additional, antecedent agreement the party seeking

⁶ The Nevada Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion in *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local No. 1285 v. City of Las Vegas*, 112 Nev. 1319, 1324, 929 P.2d 954, 957 (1996), holding that the district court's determination of arbitrability was error where a collective bargaining agreement provided "that an arbitrator [was] to decide any dispute over interpretation and application of the CBA, including the arbitrability of a dispute." *Accord Masto*, 125 Nev. at 44, 199 P.3d at 832 ("In interpreting a contract, [the Court will] construe a contract that is clear on its face from the written language, and it should be enforced as written.").

arbitration asks the federal court to enforce;" the FAA "operates on this additional agreement just as it does on any other." *Rent-A-Center*, 561 U.S. at 70; *see Henry Schein*, 139 S. Ct. at 529. The Supreme Court "has consistently held that parties may delegate threshold arbitrability questions to the arbitrator, so long as the parties' agreement does so by 'clear and unmistakable' evidence." *Henry Schein*, 139 S. Ct. at 530 (quoting *First Options*, 514 U.S. at 944).

In *Henry Schein*, the Supreme Court revisited this law to address a single issue: whether a district court could elect to decide threshold questions of arbitrability if it found that the argument in favor of arbitration was "wholly groundless." 139 S. Ct. at 527-28. The "wholly groundless" exception was a judicially created rule, whereby judges opted to decide threshold questions of arbitrability—such as the scope of the arbitration agreement—despite the existence of a clear and unmistakable delegation clause, because they viewed the argument in favor of arbitration as frivolous or "wholly groundless." *Id.* at 529. The courts that applied the rule "reasoned that the 'wholly groundless' exception enables courts to block frivolous attempts to transfer disputes from the court system to arbitration." *Id.*

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