In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

Electronically Filed Oct 15 2021 12:27 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.; RASIER LLC and RASICIEM And Supreme Court

Appellants,

v.

MEGAN ROYZ and ANDREA EILEEN WORK

Respondents.

On Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A:20-810843-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

QUIRK LAW FIRM

Counsel of Record

Trevor Quirk 2421 Tech Center Court, Ste. 100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89128

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Uber's Terms of Service (which is the basis for the alleged arbitration agreements here) apply each time the Uber app is used. Ms. Royz was riding as a guest when the accident occurred. There is no arbitration agreement applicable to Ms. Royz. In addition, Uber's Terms specify the services to which they apply. The Terms state that transportation is not one of Uber's services. This case involves personal injuries resulting from a traffic accident. Thus, Uber's Terms (and its embedded arbitration provisions, including the alleged delegation provision) simply do not apply to this case. In short, there is no enforceable arbitration contract here.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Did Not Err in the Proceedings Below.

i. The District Court properly decided that Uber did not have a contract with Ms. Royz.

Whether a valid arbitration agreement exists is a question of contract, properly decided by the trial court. *See Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 530 (2019) ("To be sure, before referring a dispute to an arbitrator, the court determines whether a valid arbitration agreement exists."). "*Schein* 'did not change—to the contrary, it reaffirmed—the rule that courts must first decide whether an arbitration agreement exists at all." *Belyea v. GreenSky, Inc.*, 2020 WL 3618959, at *4 (N.D. Cal. July 2, 2020) (quoting *Lloyd's Syndicate 457 v. FloaTEC, L.L.C.*, 921 F.3d 508, 515 n.4 (5th Cir. 2019). "State contract law controls whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate [A] party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." *Knutson v. Sirius XM Radio Inc.*, 771 F.3d 559, 565 (9th Cir. 2014) (internal citations and quotations omitted).⁵

"Basic contract principles require, for an enforceable contract, an offer and

⁵ In the parties' briefing below on both the motion to compel arbitration and motion to reconsider, both Appellant and Respondents applied federal law, California law, and Nevada law. *See e.g.*, 1 AA 47 (applying federal law and Nevada law); 1AA 169 (applying federal law, Nevada law and California law); 2 AA 219-220 (applying federal law and California law).

acceptance, meeting of the minds, and consideration." *Certified Fire Prot. Inc. v. Precision Constr.*, 128 Nev. 371, 378 (2012). Where any of these elements is missing, a court may properly deem a contract unenforceable. *See Braun v. Nevada Land, LLC*, 2013 WL 461254 (Nev. Sup. Ct. Feb. 5, 2013) (district court properly found lease term unenforceable due to lack of consideration). The District Court ruled during oral argument on the motion to reconsider that there was no consideration for Ms. Royz to be bound by the arbitration provision (including the delegation clause) because she was not using the Uber app at the time of the accident and as such, there was no contract in place:

A key component as far as my decision is concerned as it relates to her was the fact that at the time of this motor vehicle accident, she had not even used the Uber app; right? All she was, was a passenger in the motor vehicle accident. As a result of that, number one, there's been no consideration. There's no contract in place. She was a mere passenger. I think it would be a stretch, a real stretch, to force her to arbitration under those circumstances. And because I think it's pretty clear for all the reasons I ruled before, but that wasn't clear enough maybe in my minute order, but I want to make sure the record is really clear on top of my prior decision. So, I mean, she's going to -- she's not going to go to arbitration.

3 AA 334-38.

The District Court's ruling is consistent with Uber's Terms, which expressly apply only when "accessing or using the Services." 1 AA 79. Specifically, the Terms provide: "By accessing or using the Services, you confirm your agreement to be bound by these Terms." *Id.* Since Ms. Royz was not "accessing or using the

Services" as defined in the Terms, she was not bound by any aspect of the Terms, including the delegation provision contained within them.

"[T]he question of whether a contract exists is one of fact, requiring this court to defer to the district court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous or not based on substantial evidence." *May*, 121 Nev. at 672–73. The evidence presented to the District Court prior to its rulings consisted of, *inter alia*, the agreement at issue, copies of Uber's records, copies of emails sent by Uber to Respondents, and declarations by Uber's Senior Legal Program Manager. 1 AA 57-88, 90-120. It is a tenet of black letter law that consideration is a necessary element of an enforceable contract. *See Certified Fire Prot.*, 128 Nev. at 378. Thus, the District Court's conclusion that Ms. Royz did not enter a valid contract that could compel her claims to arbitration should be upheld as it was both supported by substantial evidence and was not clearly erroneous. 3 AA 371 (Conclusion of Law 2).6

-

⁶ Appellant incorrectly claims that Ms. Royz and Ms. Work did not raise any "question as to the existence or validity to of the agreements." Op. Br. at 7, n.4. This issue was addressed in Respondents' opposition to the motion to compel arbitration (1 AA 148-150) and in Respondents' opposition to the motion to reconsider (2 AA 244-253). Further, this Court can consider issues not raised by the parties below if the District Court considered such issues. *See Cmty. House, Inc. v. City of Boise*, 490 F.3d 1041, 1054 (9th Cir. 2007) ("even if a party fails to raise an issue in the district court, we generally will not deem the issue waived if the district court actually considered it.").

ii. There are limits to the reach of a delegation clause, even after *Schein*.

Uber posits that under *Schein*, the mere existence of Uber's delegation clause requires an arbitrator to decide whether the arbitration clause should be enforced, and to what extent, no matter what and regardless of whether the parties' dispute arises out of their contract. *See e.g.*, 3 AA 307-09. "Appellants' proffered construction of the delegation clause would not only transcend the purpose and terms of the[...] agreement[] ... but would operate to deprive both sides of all future rights to either a jury trial or court resolution of completely unrelated matters arising potentially decades in the future." *Moritz v. Universal City Studios LLC*, 268 Cal. Rptr. 3d 467, 475 (2020). The Court in *Schein* did not contemplate such an infinite construction of delegation clauses as that proffered by Uber. As Appellant

⁷ Uber claims that "courts across the country have found Uber's delegation provision dispositive and effective." Op. Br. at 16. However, the cases Uber cites for this proposition are easily distinguishable. See Heller v. Rasier, LLC, 2020 WL 413243, at *12 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2020) (deciding whether plaintiffs assented to the arbitration provisions in agreements with Uber before addressing whether the parties clearly and unmistakably agreed to delegate gateway issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator; plaintiffs did not dispute that their claims fell under the scope of the agreement and did not challenge the validity of the delegation clause); Mohamed v. Uber Techs., Inc., 848 F.3d 1201, 1208 (9th Cir. 2016) (finding delegation clause in 2013 and 2014 versions of arbitration agreements Uber drivers signed with Uber was not procedurally unconscionable; drivers did not dispute that their claims were within the scope of the arbitration agreement); Lathan v. Uber Techs., Inc., 266 F. Supp. 3d 1170, 1173 (E.D. Wis. 2017) (finding December 12, 2015 version of the agreement between Uber driver and Uber delegated arbitrability to arbitrator where plaintiff did "not dispute that his substantive claims are within the scope of the arbitration provision."); Olivares v. Uber Techs., Inc., 2017 WL 3008278, at *3 (N.D. Ill. July

concedes, the Supreme Court addressed one discrete issue in Schein: whether a district court could elect to decide arbitrability if it found that the argument in favor of arbitration was "wholly groundless." Op. Br. at 13. Neither Respondents nor the District Court invoked the "wholly groundless" exception in the proceedings below.

The instant dispute does not arise out of the alleged contract. iii.

In Schein, the parties did not debate whether their dispute arose from their contract. See 139 S. Ct. at 528. Instead, in Schein, the parties disagreed about whether the arbitration agreement applied to plaintiff's claim seeking injunctive relief when the agreement had a carve-out for actions seeking injunctive relief. See id. Though seemingly a matter of inconsequential semantics, the distinction between deciding whether a dispute arises out of the contract versus deciding whether an arbitration agreement applies to a particular dispute is important here. Indeed,

> [] Schein presupposes a dispute arising out of the contract or transaction, i.e., some minimal connection between the contract and the dispute. That is so because under the FAA, contractual arbitration clauses are "valid, irrevocable, and enforceable" if they purport to require arbitration of any "controversy thereafter arising out of such contract." (9 U.S.C. Schein expressly understood that the Act requires

^{14, 2017) (}finding that delegation clause in December 2015 agreement between Uber driver and Uber delegated the issue of whether driver's relationship with Uber is that of employee or independent contractor to arbitrator); Lee v. Uber Techs., Inc., 208 F. Supp. 3d 886, 892-93 (N.D. Ill. 2016) (finding that delegation clause in agreement between Illinois Uber drivers and Uber was not unconscionable due to fee-splitting provision and lack of opportunity to negotiate terms).

enforcement of arbitration clauses with respect to disputes 'thereafter arising out of such contract.'

See Moritz, 268 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 475-76 (emphasis added) (trial court, applying FAA and despite delegation clause, properly decided arbitrability and denied a motion to compel arbitration where parties' dispute did not arise out of or relate to their contract).

The Appellate Court in *Moritz* cited to a Tenth Circuit case, which—similar to Respondents' auto accident claim not arising out of Uber's app use contract—gives the example of an assault claim not arising out of a business agreement:

For example, if two small business owners execute a sales contract including a general arbitration clause, and one assaults the other, we would think it elementary that the sales contract did not require the victim to arbitrate the tort claim because the tort claim is not related to the sales contract. In other words, with respect to the alleged wrong, it is simply fortuitous that the parties happened to have a contractual relationship. (*Coors Brewing Co. v. Molson Breweries* (10th Cir. 1995) 51 F.3d 1511, 1516.)

268 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 474-75. *Moritz* concludes this section by noting: "'When an arbitration provision is 'read as standing free from any [underlying] agreement,' 'absurd results ensue.'" *See id.* at 475 (quoting *Smith v. Steinkamp*, 318 F.3d 775, 777 (7th Cir. 2003)).

Under the plain language of the FAA, *Schein* only applies to controversies "arising out of such contract." *See* 9 U.S.C. § 2. Where, as here, the parties dispute whether their controversy arises out of their contract, under the FAA, courts

necessarily must address that question. Consistent with the FAA, the District Court below found that the underlying lawsuit for personal injuries resulting from an automobile accident did not arise out of the underlying Uber contract (the "Terms"). 3 AA 359.

Uber argues that the District Court's reasoning would "render every delegation clause superfluous[,]" noting that the Sixth Circuit declined to apply such reasoning in *Blanton v. Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC*, 962 F.3d 842 (6th Cir. 2020), *cert. denied sub nom. Piersing v. Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC*, 141 S. Ct. 1268 (2021). Op. Br. at 20-21. But the District Court's reasoning would not have this result. Instead, the District Court's reasoning comports with the FAA's plain language. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 2; *Moritz*, 268 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 476 (Appellant's argument that a delegation clause "creates a perpetual obligation to arbitrate any conceivable claim that [Respondents] might ever have against them is plainly inconsistent with the FAA's explicit relatedness requirement.").

Appellant's reasoning would allow a delegation clause to transcend and trump the entirety of the rest of the contract it resides within, rendering every contract superfluous and in contravention of the FAA. *See Revitch v. DIRECTV, LLC*, 977 F.3d 713, 719 (9th Cir. 2020) ("The FAA's savings clause was intended to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.") (quoting *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12 (1967));

Moritz, 268 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 475. Accordingly, the District Court did not err in conducting its inquiry. The Ninth Circuit has declined to interpret agreements to arbitrate "all disputes ... arising out of or relating to any aspect of the relationship between" parties as boundless, noting "we are not persuaded that the FAA preempts California's rule requiring that courts interpret contracts [including arbitration agreements] to avoid absurd results." See Revitch, 977 F.3d at 719.8 At bottom, the District Court properly found that the parties' controversy did not arise out of their contract (4 AA 365-71; 3 AA 359) and as such, the holding in Schein is not applicable.

iv. The parties' intent to delegate arbitrability to the arbitrator is not supported by clear and unmistakable evidence.

Even if the parties' controversy arose out the contract and triggered application of *Schein*—which it did not—the parties did not clearly and unmistakably intend to delegate arbitrability to the arbitrator. In answering the question of "who has the primary power to decide arbitrability," the court is to "apply both a presumption and a heightened evidentiary requirement *against arbitrability*." *See SEIU Loc. 121RN v. Los Robles Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 976 F.3d 849, 855 n.6 (9th Cir.

_

⁸ The court in *Revitch* further explained, "We are merely following the Supreme Court's command that a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit. Interpreting Revitch's agreement to arbitrate a dispute with AT&T Mobility as a consent to arbitrate any and all disputes with unknown corporate entities to be acquired by AT&T, Inc. years in the future is undoubtedly absurd." *See id.* at n.3 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

2020) (emphasis added). The mere incorporation of AAA Rules and the wording of Uber's delegation clause are insufficient for Uber to carry this high evidentiary burden to demonstrate the parties' clear and unmistakable intent to delegate arbitrability to the arbitrator.

Significantly, after the Court decided Schein, remanding the question of whether the parties clearly and unmistakably delegated the question of arbitrability to an arbitrator, the Fifth Circuit again refused to order arbitration of the issues. See Archer & White Sales, Inc. v. Henry Schein, Inc., 935 F.3d 274, 277 (5th Cir. 2019), cert. granted, 141 S. Ct. 107 (2020), and cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 113 (2020), and cert. dismissed as improvidently granted sub nom. Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc., 141 S. Ct. 656 (2021) ("Schein II"). In Schein II, the Fifth Circuit held that the delegation clause delegated "the threshold arbitrability inquiry to the arbitrator for at least some category of cases." See id. at 280. However, the Schein II court held that the "plain language" of the arbitration agreement carved out claims seeking injunctive relief, such that there was no clear and unmistakable evidence that the parties intended an arbitrator to decide such claims. See id. at 280-82. The Schein II court held that the district court had the power to decide arbitrability and further affirmed the district court's denial of the motion to compel arbitration. See id. at 277.

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